## SUPREME COURT FILED

OCT 27 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

#### IN THE

#### SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Deputy

BLACK SKY CAPITAL, LLC,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

MICHAEL A. COBB and KATHLEEN S. COBB,

Defendants and Petitioners.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division Two Case No. E064482

From the Superior Court of California, County of San Bernardino The Hon. Bryan F. Foster, Judge Case No. CIVDS1416584

# MICHAEL A. COBB AND KATHLEEN S. COBB'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

#### I. ISSUE PRESENTED

Does Code of Civil Procedure section 580d permit a creditor that holds both a senior lien and a junior lien on the same parcel of real property arising from separate loans to seek a money judgment on the junior lien after the creditor foreclosed on the senior lien and purchased the property at a nonjudicial foreclosure sale?

#### II. INTRODUCTION

The issue of whether a sold-out junior creditor, for purposes of Section 580d, should not be deemed a bona fide sold-out junior when its own conduct caused its sold-out status has now become a divisive one as a result of the Court of Appeal's opinion below, which is at odds with the last twenty-five years of appellate court jurisprudence on this issue. Based upon the history and legislative intent of Section 580d as discussed in this Court's *Roseleaf* decision, the evolution of *Roseleaf* in the lower courts in the context of multiple loans owned by the same creditor, the liberal construction traditionally afforded to the application of the antideficiency statutes, and the rules of statutory interpretation and legislative ratification, Petitioners therefore respectfully submit that the rule announced in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Roseleaf Corp. Chierighino, 59 Cal. 2d 35 (1963) ("Roseleaf").

Simon decision<sup>2</sup> is the appropriate standard, and that the Court of Appeal's decision below offers an unreasonably narrow reading of Section 580d, which is wholly inconsistent with the goals of this legislation.

That is to say, Plaintiff and Appellant BLACK SKY CAPITAL, LLC's ("BLACK SKY") creditor strategy of initiating simultaneous recoveries against the debtors, Defendants and Petitioners MICHAEL A. COBB and KATHLEEN S. COBB ("the COBBS"), by nonjudicially foreclosing on a senior lien, underbidding the Subject Property at the trustee's sale, and then seeking a money judgment on the sold-out junior note, is exactly what the antideficiency statutes and the one action rule were designed to protect against. Appellant's self-imposed waiver of its security interest in its junior lien was not done at the "whim" of some senior lien holder; but rather, by its own choice. This Court is therefore urged to reverse the Court of Appeal and to uphold the *Simon* rule.

#### III. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

## A. BLACK SKY's Unity of Interest in the Underlying Loans

On or about August 18, 2005, the COBBS borrowed the sum of \$10,229,250.00 ("first loan") from Citizens Business Bank ("Citizens") evidenced by a promissory note ("senior note") and secured by a deed of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Simon v. Superior Court, 4 Cal. App. 4th 63 (1992) ("Simon")

trust ("senior deed of trust") encumbering real property located at 10681 Foothill Blvd., Rancho Cucamonga, California 91730 ("Subject Property"). (CT, I, p. 86).<sup>3</sup> On or about September 14, 2007, the COBBS borrowed \$1,500,000.00 ("second loan") from Citizens and executed a second promissory note ("junior note"), which was also secured by a deed of trust ("junior deed of trust") encumbering the Subject Property. (CT, I, p. 86). The junior deed of trust specifically referenced the senior deed of trust, as well as the obligation arising under the senior note. (CT, I, p. 122). Therefore, while the loan transactions did not occur simultaneously, they were related loans, originated by the same lender, and secured by the same parcel of real property.

Citizen's Bank thereafter simultaneously assigned both the senior loan and the junior loan to BLACK SKY, who maintained a unity of interest in both the senior and junior liens. The amount received in consideration for the assignment of both the senior and junior loans from Citizens to BLACK SKY was undisclosed, as the documentation merely states that the assignment was "for good and valuable consideration" (CT, III, pp. 585-588).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> All references to the record on appeal shall be to the Clerk's Transcript, volumes 1-3. "CT" shall refer to "Clerk's Transcript," followed by volume number and page number.

Following the borrowers' defaults under both the senior and junior loans, BLACK SKY (who owned both the senior and junior loans) opted to conduct a nonjudicial foreclosure on the senior deed of trust, acquiring the Subject Property on or about October 28, 2014 for a credit bid of \$7,500,000.00. (CT, I, p. 144). This amount was substantially less than the indebtedness under both the senior note (CT, I, p. 144) and the junior note (CT, I, p. 179). It was also substantially less than the \$8,400,000.00 appraised value of the Subject Property as of August 1, 2013 (CT, III, p. 603). BLACK SKY's decision to move forward with nonjudicial foreclosure (thereby taking title to the Subject Property by way of credit bid) eliminated its own security interest in the Subject Property under the junior deed of trust by operation of law. (CT, I, p. 13).

B. BLACK SKY's Action to Collect Against the COBBS on the Junior Note Following its Decision to Make Itself a Sold-Out Junior Lienholder

Less than one week after the trustee's sale, on November 4, 2014, BLACK SKY initiated the underlying lawsuit seeking to recover money damages under the junior note against the COBBS. Both parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment before the trial court, resulting in the trial court's May 8, 2015 order granting the COBBS's motion for summary judgment and denying BLACK SKY's motion for summary judgment. (CT, III, 708-711). The trial court found that the case "boils down to the applicability of the anti-deficiency statutes when the senior and junior

"the liens are held by the same creditor, and that creditor forecloses on the senior lien, thus extinguishing its junior lien, the creditor cannot then sue on the junior note as a sold-out junior lienor." (CT, III, p. 710). The trial court thereafter entered judgment in favor of the COBBS and against BLACK SKY on September 4, 2015. (CT, III, pp. 719-720). BLACK SKY filed its notice of appeal on September 18, 2015. (CT, III, pp. 735).

# C. The Court of Appeal Reverses the Trial Court and Severely Criticizes the Holding in Simon

In its June 13, 2017 published opinion reversing the trial court, the Court of Appeal took an unreasonably narrow reading of Section 580d and virtually ignored the well-settled case law finding that the antideficiency statutes are to be liberally construed. In so doing, the Court of Appeal's published opinion found that the unity of interest in the senior and junior liens held by BLACK SKY at the time of its nonjudicial foreclosure sale under the senior deed of trust was *irrelevant* for purposes of its Section 580d analysis. (See Opinion at page 14) ("It makes *no difference* whether the junior lienholder is the same entity or a different entity as the senior lienholder") (emphasis added). This position directly contradicts the First District's holding in *Simon* (as well as all the holdings from other Districts, including the Second and Fifth Districts that have applied *Simon*) that when a creditor who owns a unity of interests in both loans *takes action to make* 

itself a sold-out junior lienholder, it cannot also maintain an action for money damages under the sold-out junior note. As will be set forth more fully below, the Court of Appeal should be reversed.

#### IV. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeal's Published Opinion Should Be Reversed Because It Ignores the Meaning and Development of Section 580d and Misconstrues Simon

The Court of Appeal's opinion severely limits the applicability of Section 580d, as it espouses an unnecessarily narrow reading of this Court's holding in *Roseleaf*. This approach is contrary to this Court's mandate when interpreting the antideficiency statutes to "focus on the substance rather than form of the loan transaction in question." *Coker v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.*, 62 Cal. 4th 667, 681 (2016). See also *Simon*, supra, at 77-78 ("the elevation of the form of such a contrived procedure over its easily perceived substance would deal a mortal blow to the antideficiency legislation of this state").

The Court of Appeal's opinion also attempts to abrogate the evolution of antideficiency jurisprudence in this state by severely criticizing *Simon*'s application of Section 580d in instances where the same creditor has a unity of interest in both liens. In so doing, the opinion fails to give any deference to the liberal construction historically afforded to the

application of the antideficiency statutes. See *Western Security Bank v*. *Superior Court*, 15 Cal. 4th 232, 258-9 (1997) (citing *Simon* for the proposition that "our courts have construed the antideficiency statutes liberally, rejecting attempts to circumvent the proscriptions against deficiency judgments after nonjudicial foreclosure"). For those reasons, the Court of Appeal's judgment should be reversed.

1. The Court of Appeal's Decision Ignores the Legislative Intent Behind Section 580d of Keeping Judicial Enforcement on a Parity with Private Enforcement

A creditor's right to enforce a debt secured by a mortgage or deed of trust on real property is restricted by statute. *Guild Mortgage Co v. Heller* 193 Cal.App.3d 1505, 1510 (1987) ("[if] the security is insufficient, his right to a judgment against the debtor for the deficiency may be limited or barred by sections 580a, 580b, 580d, or 726 of the Code of Civil Procedure"). Section 580d prohibits recovery of a deficiency judgment<sup>4</sup> from the borrower after a nonjudicial foreclosure sale. According to Section 580d, no deficiency shall be owed or collected, and no deficiency judgment shall be rendered for a deficiency on a note secured by a deed of trust or mortgage on real property if the real property has been sold by the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> A deficiency judgment is a personal judgment against a debtor for a recovery of the secured debt measured by the difference between the debt and the net proceeds received from the foreclosure sale. *Dreyfuss v. Union Bank*, 24 Cal. 4th 400, 407 (2000); see also *Coppola v. Superior Court*, 211 Cal. App. 3d 848, 866 (1989).

mortgagee or trustee under power of sale contained in the mortgage or deed of trust. *Id.* See *Union Bank v. Gradsky*, 265 Cal. App. 2d 40, 46 (1968) ("[t]he legislature clearly intended to protect the debtor from personal liability following a non-judicial sale of the security. No liability, direct or indirect, should be imposed upon the debtor following a non-judicial sale of the security").

Added by statutes in 1940 (See Ex. Sess., c. 29, p. 84, section 2), Section 580d, like all of California's antideficiency statutes, came out of the depression in an effort to protect debtors from losing property at a depressed foreclosure price, and also incurring a large deficiency judgment for the balance. Simon at 68. While the problem is minimized in judicial sales, where the judgment debtor can redeem the property within one year after the sale by tendering the sale price, property sold at a nonjudicial sale is not subject to redemption. Id. at 68–70. As this Court noted in Roseleaf, Section 580d "was enacted to put judicial enforcement on a parity with private enforcement.... The right to redeem, like proscription of a deficiency judgment, has the effect of making the security satisfy a realistic share of the debt. By choosing ... to bar a deficiency judgment after private sale, the legislature achieved its purpose without denying the creditor his election of remedies." Id. at 43-44. Accord Walter E. Heller Western, Inc. v. Bloxham, 176 Cal. App. 3d. 266, 271 (1985). As a result, deficiency judgments are permitted only following judicial foreclosure, where the

debtor can exercise the right of redemption. Upon a nonjudicial sale, with no right of redemption, the creditor is deprived of a deficiency judgment.

Gradsky at 42–43. See also Western Security Bank v. Superior Court, 15

Cal. 4th 232, 237 (1997) (precluding a judgment for any loan balance left unpaid after the lender's nonjudicial foreclosure under a power of sale in a deed of trust secured by real property).

The application of the one-action rule<sup>5</sup> and the antideficiency statutes are "designed to prevent creditors from buying in at their own sales at deflated prices and realizing double recoveries by holding debtors for large deficiencies." *Roseleaf* at 43-44. Here, however, BLACK SKY did exactly that as it was the successful bidder at its own trustee's sale on the senior deed of trust, acquiring the Subject Property for a credit bid of \$7,500,000.00. (CT, I, p. 144). This amount was substantially less than the indebtedness under both the senior note (CT, I, p. 144) and the junior note. (CT, I, p. 179). It was also substantially less than the appraised value (\$8,400,000.00) of the Subject Property as of August 1, 2013. (CT, III, p.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> There is only one form of action for the recovery of any debt or the enforcement of any right secured by a deed of trust: foreclosure. *Alliance Mortgage Co. v. Rothwell*, 10 Cal. 4th 1226, 1236 (1995). The purpose of the one action rule is to limit a secured creditor to a single suit to enforce its security interest and collect its debt, and further to compel the exhaustion of all security before a monetary deficiency judgment may be obtained against the debtor. *National Enterprises, Inc. v. Woods*, 94 Cal. App. 4<sup>th</sup> 1217, 1221 (2001).

603). By taking the quicker, less costly route of nonjudicial foreclosure, BLACK SKY was able to acquire title to the security quickly and without the investment of new money (by simply bidding a price that was less than the outstanding indebtedness) (CT, I, p. 144), to the prejudice of the COBBS.<sup>6</sup>

# 2. The Evolution of Section 580d in *Simon* is Consistent with this Court's Interpretation of Section 580d in *Roseleaf*

For over fifty years, *Roseleaf* has been the leading authority in California on the application of Section 580d. In *Roseleaf*, this Court held that prohibitions of section 580d did not extend to a junior lienholder whose security interest in property was extinguished by a trustee's sale under a senior lien. *Id.* at 43. As such, a sold-out junior lienholder "whose security has been rendered valueless by a senior sale" may recover on its promissory note and the one-action rule does not apply since "there is no reason to compel a junior lienor to go through foreclosure and sale when there is

In a carefully choreographed sequence of events, BLACK SKY made the strategic decision to nonjudicially foreclose under the senior lien and immediately thereafter pursued a money judgment against the COBBS under the sold-out junior note, which Appellant procured knowing that it was substantially unsecured. (CT, I, p. 179). This creditor strategy of initiating simultaneous recoveries against the debtors by nonjudicially foreclosing on a senior lien, underbidding the Subject Property at the trustee's sale, and then seeking a money judgment on the sold-out junior note, is exactly what the antideficiency statutes were designed to protect against.

nothing left to sell." *Id.* at 39. In so holding, this Court showed particular concern that a junior lienholder might "end up with nothing" and noted that "the junior's right to recover should not be controlled by the whim of the senior." *Id.* at 44. As such, the proper context for this oft cited language from *Roseleaf* pertaining to being at the "whim of the senior" is presupposed upon the existence of a *different* senior lienholder leaving a junior lienholder with no security interest, through no fault of her own. To demonstrate that key difference, a review of the very distinct facts of *Roseleaf* is warranted.

Plaintiff Roseleaf Corp. received four notes secured by four deeds of trust on four separate parcels of property from the Chierighino family in conjunction with the sale of a hotel. The first deed of trust encumbered the hotel that was the subject of the transaction. However, the other three deeds of trust were each second deeds of trust encumbering three separate parcels of property to secure the obligations. Most telling, each of these three second deeds of trust were junior to three first deeds of trust; all of which were owned by strangers to the transaction. *Id.* at 38. Following the sale of the hotel, each of the owners of the three first deeds of trust caused the three separate parcels of real property to be sold under powers of sale contained in those first deeds of trust. The second deeds of trust held by Roseleaf were therefore not protected, such that the second deeds of trust were rendered valueless following the sales of each parcel of property. *Id.* 

Roseleaf therefore sought to recover the full unpaid amounts on the three notes secured by the second deeds of trust, which this Court allowed.

The important teaching from *Roseleaf*, then, is that Section 580d will allow an action on the junior note as the only recourse for a junior lienholder that loses her securitization due to the whim of a different senior lienholder. As such, the fundamental tenets of *Roseleaf* remain good law (i.e. a sold-out junior may bring an action on the note without running afoul of Section 580d). The issue before this Court now is the proper application of the *Roseleaf* rule in the context of multiple liens owned by the *same* lienholder; and more specifically, whether that lienholder can properly be considered a bona fide sold-out junior. *Simon* announced a rule that it cannot. The reasoning from *Simon* is sound and should be upheld.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Although the Court of Appeal below paid lip service to the oft cited language from *Roseleaf* pertaining to a sold-out junior creditor being at the "whim of the senior" (See Opinion at p. 6), it failed to take into consideration that *Roseleaf* did not intend to apply to a situation where a single creditor owns two loans secured the same real property; but rather, where there was a *different* senior lienholder.

3. The Lower Courts Have Espoused the Natural Expansion of Section 580d Announced in Simon When the Foreclosing Senior Lienholder is the Same Entity as the Junior Lienholder

Until the Court of Appeal opinion below, for the past twenty-five years (since the *Simon* decision), the lower courts that have addressed the proper application of section 580d when the foreclosing senior lienholder is the *same entity* as the junior lienholder have followed the rule first announced by the First Appellate District in *Simon* ("section 580d must nonetheless be viewed as controlling where, as here, the senior and junior lenders and lienors are identical and those liens are placed on the same real property"). *Id.* at 78. In other words, where there is a unity of ownership interest in the senior and junior lien interests, it cannot be said that the junior lienholder is a bona fide sold-out junior lienholder because that status was caused by its own actions. <sup>8</sup>

In Simon, the court held that "where a creditor makes two successive loans secured by separate deeds of trust on the same real property and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> This is consistent with the application of the one action rule. That is to say that while there is a recognized exception to the one action rule which allows a lienholder to bring a personal action on the debt when the security is lost through no fault of the creditor, there is no such exception allowed if "the beneficiary himself is responsible for the loss of security." *Ghirardo v. Antonioli*, 14 Cal. 4<sup>th</sup> 39, 48 (1996). See also *Hibernia S. & L. Soc. v. Thornton*, 109 Cal. 427, 429 (1895) ("when the mortgagee, by his own act or neglect, deprives himself of the right to foreclose the mortgage, he at the same time deprives himself of the right to an action upon the note").

forecloses under its senior deed of trust's power of sale, thereby eliminating the security for its junior deed of trust, section 580d . . . bars recovery . . . on the obligation the junior deed of trust secured." *Id.* at 66. In reaching this conclusion, the *Simon* court focused on the fact that "the senior and junior lenders and lienors are identical and those liens are placed on the same real property." *Id.* at 77. As such, the fundamental legal principles arising from the application of the one action rule and the antideficiency rules remain wholly consistent between the disparate factual backgrounds surrounding *Roseleaf* and *Simon*. And while *Simon* acknowledged the early concerns about "creation of multiple trust deeds on the same property, securing loans represented by successive promissory notes from the same debtor, as a means of circumventing the provisions of section 580d," the *Simon* court ultimately found that even when "legitimate reasons do exist to

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