# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

FILED

MAR 0 5 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

BLACK SKY CAPITAL, LLC

Plaintiff & Appellant,

VS.

MICHAEL A. COBB, et al.,

Defendants & Respondents.

AFTER A PUBLISHED DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION TWO, APPEAL NO. E064482
ON APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CASE NO. CIVDS 1416584, Hon. Bryan F. Foster

## ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Ronald N. Richards (SBN: 176246) \*
LAW OFFICES OF RONALD
RICHARDS & ASSOCIATES APC

P.O. Box 11480
Beverly Hills, CA 90213
T: 310-556-1001; F: 310-277-3325
www.ronaldrichards.com

Robert Cooper (SBN: 209641)

WILSON, ELSER, MOSKOWITZ,

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

Cobb's entire argument on appeal is directly preempted by Roseleaf. Interpreting section 580d in particular, this Court adopted Black Sky's reasoning in Roseleaf by focusing on the language of the former version of this statute. Quoting section 580d, the Court explained that it refers to a deficiency "upon a note secured by a deed of trust or mortgage upon real property hereafter executed in any case in which the real property has been sold by the mortgagee or trustee under power of sale contained in such mortgage or deed of trust." (Roseleaf, at p. 43). The Court held that the language of section 580d only bars a deficiency judgment on the note

secured by the same deed of trust which was foreclosed. It does not bar a separate action on a separate note which is secured by a junior deed of trust on the same property.

Similarly, the current version of section 580d precludes "a deficiency on a note secured by a deed of trust or mortgage ... in any case in which the real property ... has been sold by the mortgagee or trustee under power of sale contained in *the* mortgage or deed of trust." (§ 580d, subd. (a), italics added.) This makes it arguably more clear that the ban applies only to the loan that was the subject of the foreclosure sale—here, the senior loan. (See *Tiffin Motorhomes, Inc. v. Superior Court* (2011) 202 Cal.App.4th 24, 29 [statutory reference to "co-obligor on a contract debt" means "the parties must be co-obligors on 'a' single contract"]; italics added.) Because Black Sky is seeking a judgment under the separate junior note, rather than the senior note which was secured by the senior lien that was the subject of the foreclosure sale, section 580d is not triggered.

Consistent with Roseleaf's textual approach, lower courts have rejected other arguments raised by debtors by applying the text of the anti-deficiency statutes. (See, e.g., Cadlerock Joint Venture, L.P. v. Lobel (2012) 206 Cal.App.4th 1531, 1549 [holding that section 580d "simply does not apply on its face to a junior lien"]; id. at pp. 1542-1543 [explaining that under Roseleaf's textual interpretation, "section 580d refers to a singular note, a singular deed of trust, and a singular trustee"]; see also MDFC Loan Corp. v. Greenbrier Plaza Partners (1994) 21 Cal.App.4th 1045, 1053, fn. 2 [examining the text of section 580b in concluding that it does not apply to third party purchase money loan used to acquire commercial property].)

The liberal construction rule invoked by Cobb throughout his brief does not cure the statutory gap discussed above. (OBOM 1, 5-7, 16-17, 20.) "Liberal construction may not be utilized to include within a statute that which the Legislature did not intend." (Canal-Randolph Anaheim, Inc. v. J. E. Wilkoski (1980) 103 Cal.App.3d 282, 293.) Because the text of section 580d, on its face, does not apply here, Cobb's entire argument on appeal is preempted on this basis alone.

- II. The Discredited Case Authority Invoked by Cobb Provides No Basis to Automatically Apply Section 580d Against Dual-Lienholders.
  - A. Because the Simon decision is analytically flawed, this Court should overrule it.

The primary basis for Cobb's entire brief on appeal is *Simon, supra*, 4 Cal.App.4th 63—the leading case in which an intermediate appellate court refused to apply *Roseleaf* where a single lender, holding both liens, foreclosed on the senior one. In that case, involving a classic attempt to bypass the anti-deficiency statutes, the lender split a single loan into two loans, secured by separate deeds of trust on the same property. (*Simon*, at p. 66.) Both loans were recorded on the same day. (*Ibid.*) After the lender's non-judicial foreclosure of the senior lien eliminated the junior lien, the lender filed an action to recover a judgment under the junior loan.

Rejecting the lender's approach, the *Simon* court refused to "sanction the creation of multiple trust deeds on the same property, securing loans represented by successive promissory notes from the same debtor, as a means of circumventing the provisions of section 580d." (*Id.* at

p. 77.) The court reasoned that "[t]he elevation of the form of such a contrived procedure over its easily perceived substance would deal a mortal blow to the antideficiency legislation of this state." (Id. at pp. 77-78.) Adopting a categorical ban on deficiency judgments in dual lien-holder cases, the court held that "if legitimate reasons do exist to divide a loan to a debtor into multiple notes thus secured, section 580d must nonetheless be viewed as controlling where, as here, the senior and junior lenders and lienors are identical and those liens are placed on the same real property." (Id. at p. 78.) Otherwise, the court held, "creditors would be free to structure their loans to a single debtor, and the security therefor, so as to obtain on default the secured property on a trustee's sale under a senior deed of trust; thereby eliminate the debtor's right of redemption thereto; and thereafter effect an excessive recovery by obtaining a deficiency judgment against that debtor on an obligation secured by a junior lien the creditor chose to eliminate." (Ibid. [citing Freedland v. Greco (1955) 45 Cal.2d 462, 467].)

While Simon's concerns in cases involving questionable lenders intentionally bypassing the anti-deficiency laws are legitimate, the categorical ban adopted by that court is flawed and inapplicable here. "There is nothing in the record that supports the conclusion that the second loan was in any way an attempt to circumvent the antideficiency statutes in the event of default on the first loan." (Typed opn. 10.) In fact, "the second loan was issued two years after the first, and the default did not occur until seven years later." (Ibid.)

Simon also relied on this Court's decision in Freedland, "but Freedland in fact provides little support. In Freedland[,] the creditor had obtained two \$7000 promissory notes for the very same \$7000 debt,

together with a deed of trust purporting to secure only one of the two notes." (Andrew, Enforcement Issues for a Creditor Holding Multiple Deeds of Trust on the Same Property (2009) 27 Cal. Real Prop. J. 33, 34.) In that case, this Court "readily concluded that § 580d barred a deficiency recovery on both notes after foreclosure of the deed of trust." (Ibid.) Because redundant notes for the same debt have no economic substance, this Court found them to be a "manifestly evasive device." (Freedland, at p. 467.) In this case, however, the second loan obtained by Cobb provided \$1.5 million in additional funds in a brand new loan transaction, thereby making it literally impossible for the junior loan to function as an evasive device to bypass the anti-deficiency laws. Because Simon erroneously relied on the Freedland fact pattern, Simon is flawed by applying a categorical ban, irrespective of the legitimacy of the second/separate loan.

Contrary to *Simon*'s approach, this Court "has approved the separate treatment of truly separate, non-overlapping notes" in other cases. (Andrew, *supra*, at p. 34.) For example, in rejecting the application of the one-action rule, this Court has interpreted *Roseleaf* to mean that if there are "separate debts with separate security, even though arising from *one transaction*, then section 726 has no application." (*Walker v. Community Bank* (1974) 10 Cal.3d 729, 740, fn. 5 [italics added].) <sup>8</sup>

Disregarding this critical point, "[t]he Simon court's indifference to legitimate reasons for separate notes evidencing separate amounts seems hard to justify. For example, lenders often make a purchase-money first-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Codifying the one-action rule, section 726 "prevents a secured creditor from ignoring its security and suing on the underlying note or debt." (1 Bernhardt, Cal. Mortgages, Deeds of Trust, and Foreclosure Litigation (Cont.Ed.Bar 4th ed. 2009) § 4:6, p. 4-6.) As discussed below, this statute is not implicated here.

priority loan on real property, followed, then or later, by a junior-priority line-of-credit loan. If the identical junior loan were borrowed from another lender, the *Simon* rule would not apply." (Andrew, *supra*, at p. 34.) Consequently, "*Simon* imposes a very costly penalty on a lender for making a legitimate junior loan on market-based terms to its own existing customer, by forcing the lender to pursue judicial foreclosure to obtain a recovery that another lender could have obtained without." (*Ibid.*) Therefore, it should be overruled.

Simon should also be abrogated because "courts may not apply purely subjective notions of fairness" as they have "neither the power nor the duty to determine the wisdom of any economic policy; that function rests solely with the legislature." (Cel-Tech Communications, Inc. v. Los Angeles Cellular Tel. Co. (1999) 20 Cal.4th 163, 184 [internal citations omitted].) While Simon expressed concern with the practical, economic impact of adopting a pro-lender view, the "role of the judiciary is not to rewrite legislation to satisfy the court's, rather than the Legislature's, sense of balance and order." (People v. Carter (1997) 58 Cal.App.4th 128, 134.) "Such an undertaking is a matter for legislative, not judicial, action." (Dreyfuss, supra, 24 Cal.4th at p. 412.)

Unable to point to any actual evidence to prove his self-serving assertion that Black Sky deliberately sought to bypass the anti-deficiency laws, Cobb suggests that Black Sky cannot seek a civil judgment following "a carefully choreographed sequence of events." (OBOM 10, fn. 6.) But a creditor's audacity to "initiat[e] simultaneous recoveries against the debtors by nonjudicially foreclosing on a senior lien ... and then seeking a money judgment on the sold-out junior note" does not constitute subterfuge or evasion. (*Ibid.*) Otherwise, given that a lender "may pursue either remedy

of judicial or nonjudicial foreclosure or both at the same time" before electing its remedy (Oxford Street Properties, LLC v. Rehabilitation Associates, Inc. (2012) 206 Cal.App.4th 296, 304, fn. 3), denying Black Sky a remedy that it was legally entitled to pursue would open additional cans of worms. (See, e.g., BMW of North America, Inc. v. Gore (1996) 517 U.S. 559, 573, fn. 19 [to "punish a person because he has done what the law plainly allows him to do is a due process violation of the most basic sort"].) Other cases have similarly rejected debtors' attempts to expand the scope of the anti-deficiency laws. (See, e.g., Western Security Bank, N.A. v. Superior Court (1997) 15 Cal.4th 232, 249-253 [creditor's decision to draw upon letters of credit to satisfy unpaid portion of purchase money mortgage after a non-judicial foreclosure sale does not constitute subterfuge or evasion of anti-deficiency laws]; MDFC Loan Corp., supra, 21 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1053-1054 [section 580d's ban against deficiency judgment "does not preclude plaintiff from exhausting other security after a nonjudicial foreclosure sale"].)

Cobb responds that while the legislature has amended section 580d on other points, its failure to enact "any anti-Simon legislation suggests its ratification of Simon's interpretation of section 580d." (OBOM 24 [capitalization omitted].) "But something more than mere silence is required before that acquiescence is elevated into a species of implied legislation...." (People v. Daniels (1969) 71 Cal.2d 1119, 1127-1128.) Because "legislative inaction is a weak reed upon which to lean" (Troy Gold Industries, Ltd. v. Occupational Safety & Health Appeals Bd. (1986) 187 Cal.App.3d 379, 391, fn. 6 [internal quotation marks omitted]), Cobb's argument should be rejected. This is particularly true here where the two

statutory amendments identified by Cobb were purely clerical/cosmetic in nature. (OBOM 24 [citing two amendments].) 9

To summarize, given its analytical flaws, Simon should be abrogated.

# B. In Any Event, Because Simon and Its Progeny Involved Piggy Back Financing, the Simon Rule Has No Application Here.

Setting aside the need to overrule *Simon* based on its legally flawed analysis, that case is factually inapplicable here. Here's why.

As referenced above, *Simon* involved piggy back financing—the fact pattern where the borrower "contemporaneously ... execute[s] two separate promissory notes and two accompanying deeds of trust both referencing the same real property." (*Cadlerock, supra,* 206 Cal.App.4th at p. 1536.) The *Simon* rule evolved in order to prevent lenders from bypassing the anti-deficiency statute by splitting a single loan into two. Because the loans were issued two years apart here, there was no piggy back financing, thereby rendering *Simon* inapplicable here.

Cobb, however, mentions three cases following Simon, arguing that Simon's progeny governs here. (OBOM 15.) But virtually all of those cases involved piggy pack financing as well. (See Evans v. California Trailer Court, Inc. (1994) 28 Cal.App.4th 540, 546 [seller concurrently took back two promissory notes secured by separate deeds of trust on the same

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> (See Stats. 2014, ch. 71 (S.B. 1304), § 19 [adding a comma to the statutory text]; Stats. 2014, ch. 401 (A.B. 2763), § 14 [updating the name of the referenced state agency].)

property]; Bank of America, N.A. v. Mitchell (2012) 204 Cal.App.4th 1199, 1203 [same by lender] (Mitchell).) As for the last case, Ostayan v. Serrano Reconveyance Co. (2000) 77 Cal.App.4th 1411, the court's brief discussion of Simon was dicta at best because "[n]o deficiency judgment was sought" by a lender or creditor. (Id. at p. 1422.) While the case involved a distinct claim by a successful bidder that he was defrauded at an auction, the court – without any meaningful analysis of Simon – simply commented that it agreed with Simon. (Id.) In sum, neither Simon nor its progeny applies in this particular case where two separate loans were issued based on two separate notes over two years apart.

Cobb, however, seeks to radically expand *Simon* by exporting it here, seizing on language from distinguishable cases that had "inveighed against subterfuges that thwart the purposes of Code of Civil Procedure section 580d." (*Western Security Bank, supra,* 15 Cal.4th at p. 249). Cobb's sole justification is that the same lender holds both loans and liens at the time of the foreclosure. (OBOM 22 [arguing that the "unity of interest ... should be the only determinative factor"].) In the absence of any statutory support, that's not a valid reason to radically expand *Simon*.

\* \* \* \*

To summarize, the Court should overrule *Simon*. Otherwise, it should certainly not be expanded to the facts here where there was no piggy back financing.

# III. Cobb's Counter-Arguments Do Not Justify Judicial Expansion of the Anti-Deficiency Laws.

#### A. Cobb's Legal and Factual Arguments Are Flawed.

To justify a harsher rule against creditors using non-judicial foreclosure, Cobb suggests that debtors have no protection in such cases – as opposed to judicial foreclosure cases - in terms of redeeming the property. (OBOM 9.) This is not exactly true. "In a nonjudicial foreclosure, the borrower is protected, inter alia, by notice requirements and a right to postpone the sale, in order to avoid foreclosure either by redeeming the property from the lien before the sale or finding another a purchaser." (Dreyfuss, supra, 24 Cal.4th at p. 411.) In fact, the debtor may redeem the property as late as "five business days prior to the date of sale" by exercising his or her statutory right to reinstatement. (Civ. Code, § 2924c. subd. (e).) Furthermore, the unavailability of a post-sale redemption right in a non-judicial foreclosure makes no difference to the borrower if the borrower was not ready, willing and able to redeem the property after the foreclosure. While Cobb creates the impression that he was harmed by his inability to redeem the property, he does not argue – much less prove – that he was ready, willing and able to do so in any event, thus rendering any alleged injury purely harmless.

Instead, Cobb accuses Black Sky of "underbidding the Subject Property at the trustee's sale" – without presenting any actual evidence – but this accusation does not change the analysis. (OBOM 10, fn. 6.) "Nothing in the law requires a secured lender involved in a trustee's sale to make a full credit bid." (Greenwald, et al., Cal. Practice Guide: Real

Property Transactions (The Rutter Group 2017) ¶ 6:535.7 [citing *Dreyfuss*, at pp. 413-414].) <sup>10</sup>

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